INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

.

× .

,

University of Alberta

NEUROPROTECTIVE EFFECTS OF GALANIN IN THE RAT CHOLINERGIC BASAL FOREBRAIN

By

Xiling Ding



of the

requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Centre for Neuroscience

Edmonton, Alberta

Spring 2005

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

*

Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: Our file Notre reterence ISBN:

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manguant.

Abstract

Galanin (GAL) is a 29 amino acid peptide that is extensively distributed in the CNS and PNS. In Alzheimer's disease (AD) patients, GAL expression is elevated significantly and GAL was observed to hypertrophy and hyperinnervate the cholinergic neurons. However, the role of GAL in AD, detrimental or neuroprotective, remains controversial. We report GAL is consistently neuroprotective against β -amyloid (A β) toxicity in cholinergic basal forebrain (BF) neuronal cultures as judged by visual observation, MTT assay, live-dead cell assay and caspase 3 activation. We next demonstrated the neuroprotective effects of GAL were specifically directed towards cholinergic neurons in the BF cultures by double immunofluorescent staining for cleaved caspase 3 and VChAT. We further demonstrated that galanin receptor (GALR) 2 agonist ARM1896 could mimic the neuroprotective effects of GAL, indicating GALR2 may be involved in mediating this function. Finally we determined that GAL was also neuroprotective against glutamate (Glu)-induced excitotoxicity in the cholinergic BF neuronal cultures.

Acknowledgement

First and the foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Jack Jhamandas for his patient instruction and motivation. My discussions with him always opened up my mind and led to new insights into the depth and width of scientific questions. I have learned from him not only the ability to do research, but and attitude for doing research.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my parents for their long time support of my academic endeavors. Their love, caring and encouragement have made this thesis possible.

I would also extend my appreciation to my co-workers David MacTavish, Kim Harris, James Chin, Wen Fu and Cynthia Krys. They made working in the lab a great pleasure.

Finally thanks go to my committee members, Drs Kathryn Todd, Satya Kar and Charlie Hao for their helpful suggestions, which largely enriched my views and insights.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1

Introd	Introduction		1
1.1	Neuro	ochemical and neuropathological aspects of	
	Alzhe	eimer's disease (AD)	1
	1.1.1	Cholinergic hypothesis	1
	1.1.2	β-Amyloid	2
		1.1.2.1 Synthesis and processing	2
		1.1.2.2 Role of amyloid in dementia—amyloid	
		hypothesis	3
		1.1.2.3 Mechanism of toxicity	4
		1.1.2.4 A β conformations and toxicity	5
	1.1.3	Interaction between β –amyloid and basal fore-	
		brain cholinergic system	5
1.2	Galan	in	6
	1.2.1	Molecular structure of GAL	6
		1.2.2.1 In the CNS	6
		1.2.2.2 In the PNS	8
	1.2.3	Receptors	8
		1.2.3.1 GALR1	9
		1.2.3.2 GALR2	9
		1.2.3.3 GALR3	10

	1.2.3.4 GALR distribution in BF	10
	1.2.4 Physiological functions	11
1.3	GAL and Alzheimer's disease	12
	1.3.1 GAL plasticity in AD	12
	1.3.2 GAL hypertrophy and hyperinnervation of	
	cholinergic neurons in AD	13
	1.3.3 Controversies on the role of GAL in AD	13
	1.3.3.1 GAL as a detrimental factor	13
	1.3.3.2 GAL as a neuroprotective factor	16
Chapt	ter 2	
Mater	rials and methods	20
2.1	Primary cell cultures	20
2.2	Acetylcholinesterase histochemistry	21
2.3	Immunocytochemistry	21
2.4	Treatment and cell death assays 2	
2.5	Double immunofluorscent staining 2	
2.6	Immunoblotting 2	
2.7	Statistics	
Chapt	ter 3	
Result	ts	25
3.1	Characterization of BF primary cultures	25
3.2	GAL effects on BF neurons	27

.

3.3 Effect of GAL against A β toxicity on BF primary

	culture using MTT and live-dead assays	29
3.4	Caspase 3 pathway is involved in $A\beta$ induced neuro-	
	toxicity in BF neuronal culture and	
	neuroprotective effects of GAL	35
3.5	GAL neuroprotective effects are mimicked by GALR2	
	agonist AR-M1896	40
3.6	GAL is neuroprotective on Glu-induced neuronal cell	
	death	42
Chapt	er 4	
Discus	ssion	44
Discus	overview	44 44
Discus 4.1 4.2	Ssion Overview GAL is neuroprotective in BF neuronal culture	44 44
Discus 4.1 4.2	SSION Overview GAL is neuroprotective in BF neuronal culture against Aβ toxicity	44 44 44
Discus 4.1 4.2 4.3	SSION Overview GAL is neuroprotective in BF neuronal culture against Aβ toxicity GALR2 is involved in the neuroprotective effect of GAL	44 44 44 47
Discus 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	Sion Overview GAL is neuroprotective in BF neuronal culture against Aβ toxicity GALR2 is involved in the neuroprotective effect of GAL Activation of caspase 3 is involved in Aβ toxicity and	44 44 44 47
Discus 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	Sion Overview GAL is neuroprotective in BF neuronal culture against Aβ toxicity GALR2 is involved in the neuroprotective effect of GAL Activation of caspase 3 is involved in Aβ toxicity and GAL neuroprotective effect	44 44 47 50
Discus 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	Sion Overview GAL is neuroprotective in BF neuronal culture against Aβ toxicity GALR2 is involved in the neuroprotective effect of GAL Activation of caspase 3 is involved in Aβ toxicity and GAL neuroprotective effect Possible mechanisms underlying GAL neuroprotection	44 44 47 50 51

List of Figures

Figure 1: Histochemistry and immunocytochemistry for rat primary	
neuronal septal cultures	26
Figure 2: GAL dose response on primary culture	28
Figure 3: GAL protects neuronal cultures against Aß toxicity as	
measured by MTT assay	30
Figure 4: Phase-contrast photomicrographs of neuronal cultures	
treated with control media, $A\beta_{1-42}$ (20µM), GAL and $A\beta_{1-42}$	
and GAL (1.0 μ M)	31
Figure 5: Live-dead assay photomicrographs of neuronal cultures	
treated with $A\beta_{1-42}$ and GAL	33
Figure 6: Statistics of live-dead assay on neuronal cultures treated	
with $A\beta_{1-42}$ and GAL	34
Figure 7: Western blotting demonstrating the activation of caspase 3	
activity in the BF cultures, which was inhibited by GAL	
pretreatment	36
Figure 8: Aß induced caspase 3 activity in cultured BF neurons	
that was inhibited by GAL pretreatment	37
Figure 9: Histograms depicting percent of cells with immunofluorescent	
staining for caspase 3 and VChAT to total cells, and the	
percent of cells with double staining to the total cells stained	

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

for VChAT	38-39
Figure 10: AR-M1896 protects BF neuronal cultures against A β	
toxicity as measured by live-dead assay	41
Figure 11: GAL protects BF neuronal cultures against Glu	
excitotoxicity	43
Figure 12: Summary diagram	53

·

.

List of Abbreviation

GAL	Galanin
AD	Alzheimer's disease
Αβ	Amyloid-β
GALR	Galanin receptor
Glu	Glutamate
BF	Basal forebrain
ChAT	Choline acetyltransferase
AChE	Acetylcholinesterase
ACh	Acetylcholine
MS	Medial septum
DBB	Diagonal band of Broca
NBM	Nucleus basalis of Meynert
APP	Amyloid precursor protein
m/nAChR	Muscarinic and nicotinic acetylcholine receptors
GAL-IR	Galanin-immunoreactivity
EPSP	Excitatory post-synaptic potential
NGF	Nerve growth factor
WT	Wild type
ABC	Avidin-biotin-peroxidase
NSE	Neuron-specific enolase
VChAT	Vesicular acetycholine transporter protein
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide

TBS	Tris buffered saline
BSA	Albumin bovine serum

•

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Neurochemical and neuropathological aspects of Alzheimer's disease (AD)

AD is the most common form of progressive senile dementia. The primary neuropathological features from the brains of AD patients include extracellular amyloid- β (A β) peptide-containing plaques, cerebrovascular amyloid deposits, intracellular neurofibrillary tangles of abnormally phosphorylated tau protein, astrocytic gliosis, reactive microglia, and neuronal and synaptic loss (Auld et al., 2002). A vast body of experimental data has shown an involvement and interaction of these features, consistent with the complexity of underlying causative mechanisms in AD. This review emphasizes the relevance of cholinergic mechanism and A β in the pathogenesis of AD.

1.1.1 Cholinergic hypothesis

In AD patients, certain brain regions and neural systems are preferentially affected, including neurons in the cortex, hippocampus, amygdala anterior thalamus, basal forebrain and several brainstem monoaminergic nuclei (Sisodia and Editor, 1999). Although several neurotransmitter systems are affected in the brain of AD patients, one of the earliest pathological events is thought to be the degeneration of cholinergic neurons of the basal forebrain (BF) (Auld et al., 2002). In parallel with neuronal loss, choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) activity, high-affinity choline uptake, acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity and the level of acetylcholine (ACh) are significantly decreased (Kar et al., 1996). The BF is comprised mainly of cholinergic neurons, although it also contains non-cholinergic neurons, primarily GABAergic. The basal forebrain cholinergic system in primates is comprised of cholinergic neurons in the medial septum (MS), nucleus of the diagonal band of Broca (DBB), and nucleus basalis of Meynert (NBM). The BF neuronal system provides the main cholinergic innervation to limbic and cortical brain structures (Auld et al., 2002). Specifically, neurons in the MS project predominantly into the hippocampus, whereas those of the vertical DBB and horizontal DBB innervate the anterior cingulate cortex and olfactory bulb (Auld et al., 2002). The degeneration of hippocampus and cortical cholinergic innervation is linked to the loss of memory and cognitive dysfunction observed in AD (Drachman and Leavitt, 1974; Teter and Ashford, 2002; Arendt, 2001).

1.1.2 β –amyloid

1.1.2.1 Synthesis and processing

 β –amyloid, a 39- to 43-amino acid peptide and the major constituent of the senile plaques, is generally believed to play an important role in the progress of neurodegeneration and cognitive deficits. A β is derived from amyloid precursor protein (APP) by sequential proteolytic cleavages (Selkoe, 2001). The amyloidogenic fragments A β 1-40/42 are generated through sequential cleavage of APP by β - and γ -secretases

(Wei et al., 2002; Selkoe, 2001). Under normal conditions, cleavage by α - and γ secretases generates non-amyloidogenic A β 17-40/42 peptides (Wei et al., 2002; Selkoe, 2001).

1.1.2.2 Role of amyloid in dementia—amyloid hypothesis

There is a substantial body of evidence to support the "amyloid cascade hypothesis" which considers A β as a causative agent of Alzheimer's pathology (Hardy and Higgins, 1992). First of all, cerebral A β deposition is an invariant feature of AD, and in virtually all cases the form of A β deposition is substantially more abundant in the limbic and association cortices of AD than age-matched control brains (Selkoe, 1994). Second, from genetic point of view, the mutations in APP are a cause of early onset familial AD which demonstrate all of the neuropathological and clinical features of AD (Mudher and Lovestone, 2002). Furthermore these mutations result in an increase of A β 1-42 generation in *in vivo* and *in vitro* models and in fibroblasts from affected families (Mudher and Lovestone, 2002). In line with this evidence, A β is also neurotoxic to cultured cells and enhances tau phosphorylation under some conditions (Takashima et al., 1993; 1998). It is interesting to notice that although both intracellular and extracellular A β are toxic in rat, human cells are resistant to extracellular A β (Zhang et al., 2003).

However, concern about this hypothesis has been raised by some puzzling observations. The amount of neuritic senile plaques does not correlate well with the degree of dementia seen in AD patients (Arriagada et al., 1992), however there is a correlation between amount of the soluble form of A β in the brain and the severity of cognitive decline (Näslund et al., 2000). Other evidence comes from the transgenic

mouse model bearing the familial AD mutation shows an increase in Aβ1-42 levels and subsequent plaque pathology. However, most of these models do not show significant neuronal loss, little tau phosphorylation and no tangle formation (Mudher and Lovestone, 2002). Although some concerns exist, the "amyloid hypothesis" still receives intense attention on part of researchers as an important aspect of the pathogenesis for AD.

1.1.2.3 Mechanism of toxicity

Mechanisms of A β associated neurotoxicity are numerous and varied. Direct toxic mechanisms include free radical accumulation, altered calcium homoeostasis and an inflammatory response (Suh and Checler, 2002). A β may also target at some cell surface receptors and activate downstream signal transduction pathways. AB and its fragments have been shown to activate JNK and MAPK pathways (Wei et al., 2002; Troy et al., 2001; Morishima et al., 2001; Rapoport and Ferreira, 2000). Recently, increasing evidence suggests that apoptotic cell death is a key feature AD. As a key marker, a wide range of caspases have been implicated in regulating neuronal cell death in response to Aß exposure *in vitro*, in animal models of neurodegenerative diseases, and in AD brains (Roth, 2001). Caspases are a family of cysteine-dependent, aspartate-specific proteases. These caspases, when activated, initiate a death program by destroying key cellular components and activate factors that mediate damage to the cells (Friedlander, 2003). Stadelmann et al. (1999) indicated that activated caspase-3, a central apoptotic effector, was abundant in neurons of AD patients but only observed with a low incidence in agematched control. Allen et al. (2001) showed that treatment of A β_{25-35} caused apoptosis of cerebellar granule cells and cortical neuronal cultures associated with increased activity of caspases-2, -3 and -6.

1.1.2.4 A β conformations and toxicity

Since Hardy and Higgins (1992) formalized "Amyloid Cascade hypothesis", investigators have been focusing on the fibrillar form of Aβ and regarded Aβ aggregation and deposition as a causative agent of Alzheimer's pathology. There are abundant studies to support this idea including, for example, the amyloid deposition as a hallmark of AD and neurotoxicity of fibrillar Aβ to cultured neurons (Rapoport and Ferreira, 2000).

However, the emerging view and one that is held now is that oligomeric A β and protofibrils have potent neurotoxicity, whereas fibrils may be end stages of the neurotoxic activity of oligomers and perhaps, not the most relevant toxin to AD (Klein et al., 2001; Kirkitadze et al., 2002; Walsh et al., 2002). With this currently held view on the toxic species of A β , the concerns about the weak correlation between the fibrillar A β load and AD severity could be explained. And thus, the focus of therapeutic strategies for AD may be shifted from fibril elimination to new goals.

1.1.3 Interaction between β –amyloid and basal forebrain cholinergic system

Recently abundant data are showing that $A\beta$ and cholinergic systems reciprocally affect each other. $A\beta$ could interfere with normal cholinergic transmission by inhibiting high-affinity choline uptake and ACh release in rat hippocampal slices (Kar et al., 1998). There is also evidence showing that $A\beta$ modulate muscarinic and nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (m/nAChR) and affects downstream cascade (Kelly et al., 1996; Fu and Jhamandas, 2003; Pettit et al., 2001). On the other hand, Nitsch et al. (1992) reported that activation of mAChR could also stimulate the release of soluble APP. This indicates

A β can modulate cholinergic function but also suggest that A β processing and synthesis may be regulated by activation of cholinergic receptors.

1.2 Galanin (GAL)

1.2.1 Molecular structure of GAL

GAL, a 29 amino acid peptide, was first isolated from porcine small intestine and named for its amino-terminal glycine and amidated carboxylerminal alanine residues by Tatemoto and co-workers in 1983. NMR studies suggest that GAL adopts a predominatly α-helical structure in solution (Wennerberg et al., 1990). GAL is derived from a 123- or 124- amino acid peptide precursor named prepro-GAL. The precursor is comprised of a leader sequence, a single GAL sequence and a GAL message-associated peptide sequence of as yet unknown function (Rökaeus and Brownsterin, 1986; Kaplan et al., 1988). GAL has also been identified in other species, i.e., rat and human (Counts et al., 2001). Amongst the species, GAL is conserved in N-terminal (1-15aa) domain and different in C-terminal portion. The N-terminus has a high binding affinity to GAL receptors and C-terminal portion functions to protect the N-terminal portion from proteolytic attack (Counts et al., 2001; Fisone et al., 1989).

1.2.2 Central and peripheral distribution of GAL

Since first isolated, GAL immunoreactive profiles have been described throughout mammalian CNS and PNS in different species.

1.2.2.1 In the CNS

Melander and co-workers described the distribution of galanin-like immunoreactivity in the rat central nervous system (Melander et al., 1986). These investigators detected high concentration of galanin-immunoreactivity (GAL-IR) in hypothalamus, medulla oblongata, and spinal cord. Less extesive immunoreactivity was detected in the telecephalon, thalamus, mesencephalon, and pons, while virtually no GAL-positive structures were seen in the olfactory bulb and cerebellum.

Septum

Several groups of GAL-IR cell bodies and numerous GAL-positive fibers were observed in the septal region. Melander and co-workers detected a large group of GAL-IR medium-sized bipolar somata in MS. The second large group of GAL-IR somata was found in the ventral nucleus of DBB. GAL-positive cell bodies were also observed in dorsal to the medial border of the olfactory tubercles, extending caudally into the horizontal nucleus of DBB.

Medium density of GAL-IR fibers was observed in the lateral anterior septal nuclei, extending into both the dorsal and ventral portion of the vertical limb of DBB. GAL-positive fiber network was also detected in the intermediate and ventral lateral septal nuclei and some other nucleus in septum.

Interestingly, the distribution of GAL in the BF differs among rodents, monkeys, and humans (Mufson et al., 1998; Counts et al., 2001). In the rat, GAL co-localizes with cholinergic neurons only within the septal diagonal band but to a small degree (Melander et al., 1985; Miller et al., 1998). In the monkey, virtually all the cholinergic BF neurons contain GAL-like immunoreactivity and GAL mRNA (Mufson et al., 1998; Kordower

and Mufson, 1990), whereas in human neither the mRNA nor the peptide is present in cholinergic BF neurons (Mufson et al., 1998; Walker et al., 1991; Kordower and Mufson, 1990). However, in human a small population of non-cholinergic GALergic interneurons have been reported in the BF (Mufson et al., 1998; Counts et al., 2001).

Cortex and hippocampus

GAL-positive cell bodies were weakly labeled in the cingular cortex. GAL-IR fibers were detected throughout the cerebral cortex with at least two different morphological types. There were also two types of GAL-positive soma observed in hippocampal formation. A low-to-medium-density GAL-IR fibers were detected in subiculum. Low-density fibers were seen in stratum radiatum, dentate gyrus, extending into the stratum granulare, lateral to the hippocampal fissure, and in the ventral pole of stratum oriens.

1.2.2.2 In the PNS

GAL occurs in the respiratory tract, gastrointestinal tract and urogenital tract (Ruczynski et al., 2002;Melander et al., 1985; Cheung et al., 1985). In the nasal mucosa, brachea, bronchus, and major airways of mammalian (pig, dog, guinea pig), GAL-IR fibers were detected in smooth muscle, around seromucous glands and in the adventitia of blood vessels (Cheung et al., 1985). GAL-IR cell bodies and fibers were detected in gastric antrum, ileum, colon, as well as submucous and myenteric plexus (Melander et al., 1985; Wang et al., 1995). GAL-IR nerves were also discovered in iris and facial nerve (Stromberg et al., 1987).

1.2.3 Receptors

Three main G-protein-coupled receptor subtypes have been cloned, termed galanin receptor (GALR) 1, GALR2 and GALR3. GAL receptors share a low degree of homology. For example, hGALR1 shares 42% amino acid identity with hGALR2 and 38% with hGALR3 (Branchek et al., 2000).

1.2.3.1 GALR1

GALR1 cDNA was first isolated from a human bowes melanoma cell line (Habert-Ortoli et al., 1994). GALR1 mRNA is quite consistent with the distribution of GAL peptide expression and GAL binding sites. In rat nervous system, the highest level of GALR1 mRNA was observed in hypothalamus (supraoptic nucleus), amygdala, ventral hippocampus, thalamus, brain stem (medulla oblogata, locus ceruleus, and lateral parabrachial nucleus), and spinal cord (dorsal horn) (Branchek et al., 1998). Activation of the cloned GALR1 reduced the forskolin-stimulated increase of cAMP (Habert-Ortoli et al., 1994). GALR1 also opens G-protein-coupled, inwardly rectifying K⁺ channels, and stimulates MAPK pathway in a manner that is sensitive to pertussis toxin, indicating that it couples to $G_{i/0}$ -type G protein (Branchek et al., 2000; Wang et al., 1998).

1.2.3.2 GALR2

GALR2 is widely distributed in the CNS and PNS tissues. In the CNS, the highest level of GALR2 was found in the hypothalamus, hippocampus, amygdala and pyriform cortex as well as in the dentate gyrus, mammillary nuclei and cerebellar cortex (Branchek et al., 2000). Peripheral tissues where GALR2 were detected include vas deferens, prostate, uterus, ovary, stomach, large intestine, dorsal root ganglia and pancreas-derived cells (Branchek et al., 2000). Activation of GALR2 receptors with GAL and analogues increased inositol phospholipid turnover and intracellular calcium levels in stably transfected CHO (Chinese hamster ovary) cells and generated calciumactivated chloride currents in Xenopus oocytes, suggesting the GALR2 is primarily coupled to the activation of phospholipase C (Smith et al., 1997). GALR2 is also involved in regulating forskolin-stimulated cAMP production and mediating pertussis toxin-sensitive MAPK activity (2-3 fold) (Wang et al., 1998). The signaling GALR2 activates is consistent with the activation of G_0 , $G_g/G11$, and G_i .

1.2.3.3 GALR3

The cloning of the third GAL receptor cDNA was described by two groups (Wang et al., 1997; Smith et al., 1998). Different from GALR1 and GALR2, GALR3 has a restricted distribution in rat CNS. By northern blot analysis, Wang and co-workers only detected GALR3 mRNA in heart, spleen and testis, but not in the brain (Wang et al., 1997). Smith and co-workers reported that by the more sensitive method of solution hybridization/RPA, the GALR3 mRNA was found with the highest level in rat hypothalamus and pituitary gland and lower level in the olfactory bulb, cerebral cortex, medulla oblongata, caudate puteman, cerebellum, and spinal cord (Smith et al., 1998). They also observed low level of GALR3 mRNA expression in peripheral tissues including the liver, kidney, stomach, testicle, and adrenal cortex. In transfected Xenopus oocytes cells, GALR3 stimulates a pertussis-toxin-sensitive activation of an inward K⁺ current indicating it is coupled to $G_{i/o}$ -type G proteins (Branchek et al., 2000).

1.2.3.4 GALR distribution in BF

Northern blot, in situ hybridazaion and solution hybridization/RNase protection analyses demonstrate that GALR1 mRNA is relatively abundant in the BF (Counts et al.,

2001). GALR2 mRNA was also detected to co-localize with GALR1 in BF. Whether GALR3 is present in BF is yet to be determined. According to saturation experiment and the comparative radioligand GAL binding studies in human BF, it is suggested that radioligands were interacting with different GALRs within the basal forebrain and that two receptor subtypes, i.e., GALR1 and GALR2 exist in approximately the same concentration (Mufson et al., 1998). Considerable research still needs to be performed to gain an understanding of the regulation of cholinergic system by GALRs in the BF and their relationship to AD.

1.2.4 Physiological functions

Consistent with the wide spread distribution of GAL and its receptors in CNS and PNS, GAL also plays an important role in diverse physiological functions, such as cognition, nociception, feeding and endocrine activities. GAL inhibits acetylchoine release in rat hippocampus and cortex (Fisone et al., 1987; Wang et al., 1999), and impairs performance on rodent memory tasks (McDonald et al., 1998), suggesting GAL over-expression is involved in cognitive function. GAL is also involved in neuroendocrine functions. GAL was found to increase the plasma glucose level in the dog when the peptide was first described (Tatemoto et al., 1983). Later, several groups discovered that GAL could inhibit insulin release stimulated by glucose, both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Sharp et al., 1989; Yoshimura et al., 1989). In CNS, GAL is present in anterior pituitary and regulates hormone secretion of gonadotropin, prolactin and growth hormone (Merchenthaler et al., 1993). As an active hormone in hypothalamus, GAL also plays a role in central control of feeding and body weight (Gundlach, 2002). GAL is present in

sensory and spinal dorsal horn neurons suggesting it modulates on nociceptive input at the spinal level (Xu et al., 2000). After peripheral nerve injury and inflammation, which are associated with chronic pain, GAL and GALR2 levels are significantly increased (Zhang et al., 1998). It is suggested that the increased GAL may produce antinociception on account of its inhibitory effects (Xu et al., 2000). Wynick and co-workers pointed out however that the rising levels of GAL observed under these conditions may also contribute to the initiation and maintenance of axonal regeneration in the injured neurons, leading to functional recovery and restoration of function (Mahoney et al., 2003). They further indicated GALR2 might act as a pivotal factor in this process. In GAL knockout model, these investigators also observed fewer sensory neurons and their capacity to regenerate were reduced (Holmes et al., 2000).

1.3 GAL and Alzheimer's disease

1.3.1 GAL plasticity in AD

AD is not only characterized by the cholinergic neuronal degeneration in BF, but also associated with deficits in other neurotransmitters and neuropeptides. Beal and coworkers (1990) reported in the NBM of AD patients, there were no significant changes in glutamate (Glu), aspartate, taurine and GABA levels, but a significant reduction in 5-HT and ChAT activity. Surprisingly, they found GAL immunoreactivity was dramatically increased by 98% (Beal et al., 1990). Earlier, Chan-Palay (1988) first described that in AD patients, GAL positive neurons in the brain were more frequently and intensely labeled than in controls. Recently, Mufson's group determined via a two-site ELISA assay that GAL concentrations in the nucleus basalis of AD patients were increased ~three fold compared to age-matched controls (Counts et al., 2003). They also found the increases in GAL binding sites in nucleus basalis occurred at a late stage of AD, not in early AD cases (Mufson et al., 2000). GAL binding sites were also observed to increase in hippocampal subfield in AD patients (Rodríguez-Pzertas et al., 1997).

1.3.2 GAL hypertrophy and hyperinnervation of cholinergic neurons in AD

Chan-Palay (1988) was also the first to show that GAL immunoreactive axons and dendrites innervate cholinergic BF neurons in the normal human brain. She described that the fine nets of GAL-IR axons and terminals enwrap the perikarya of Ch4 (NBM) neurons, particularly the cholinergic (ChAT positive) neurons and that GAL fibers also climb along the primary dendrites of these cells. This suggests that GAL in local circuit interneurons may provide a significant modulation or control of the cholinergic neurons and their function within the BF (Chan-Palay, 1988). Later, Chan-Palay demonstrated that in AD patients, GAL-IR fibers hypertrophy and are thicker than normal, with obviously enlarged varicosities wrapping around cholinergic perikarya or dendrites (Chan-Palay, 1988). Mufson and co-workers (1993) observed similar hypertrophy of GAL-IR fibers and hyperinnervation of cholinergic neurons by GAL-IR fibers in vertical limb of the diagonal band nucleus (Ch2). They also observed galaninergic hypertrophy and hyperinnervation of cholinergic BF neurons of AD patients by confocal microscopic analysis (Bowser et al., 1997). They demonstrated slender, beaded GAL-IR fibers in direct apposition to cholinergic BF soma (Bowser et al., 1997).

1.3.3 Controversies on the role of GAL in AD

1.3.3.1 GAL as a detrimental factor

The mechanism responsible for GAL over-expression in AD brains remains unclear. However, the over-expression of GAL in the BF suggests that this peptide may modulate cholinergic function in AD either positively or negatively. For some time it has been suggested that GAL over-expression may exacerbate cholinergic dysfunction and impair cognition. A body of data from *in vivo*, *in vitro* experiments and transgenic models has been invoked to support this hypothesis.

GAL acts as an inhibitory transmitter in a number of nuclei in CNS. GAL inhibits ACh release in the ventral, but not in the dorsal, rat hippocampus, *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Fisone et al., 1987). Wang and co-workers (1999) observed same inhibition of acetylcholine release induced by GAL in rat cerebral cortex. Electrophysiological studies show GAL to inhibit the slow cholinergic excitatory post-synaptic potential (EPSP) in CA1 pyramidal neurons from rat ventral hippocampus and to inhibit long-term potentiation in guinea-pig hippocampal slices (Dutar et al., 1989; Sakurai et al., 1996). Electrophysiological data also showed that GAL decreases the firing rate in slices from rat locus coeruleus neurons and hypothalamic magnocellular neurosecretory cells (Seutin et al., 1989; Papas and Bourque, 1997). It has been presumed that GAL may have similar inhibitory actions in BF to cause a reduction in cholinergic tone and hence an impairment of cognition.

In behavioral studies, GAL inhibits performance in a variety of rodent learning and memory tasks. Central administration of GAL impaired performances on delayed non-matching to position in rats; T-maze delayed alternation in rats; starburst radial maze in rats; passive avoidance in mice; and the Morris water task in rats (McDonald et al., 1998). Wrenn and Crawley (2001) inferred that the mechanisms underlying these memory deficits could be explained by an inhibition of neuronal firing rate and transmitter release caused by GAL, or an activation of signal transduction pathways following the GAL receptor binding activity. Several putative GALR antagonists have been developed designated M15, M30 and M40. The inhibitory actions of GAL on memory tasks are blocked by the peptidergic antagonist M40 (McDonald et al., 1998). Co-administration of GAL antagonist M40 with a muscarinic M_1 agonist improves delayed non-matching to position choice accuracy in rats with cholinergic lesions (McDonald et al., 1998). These results are in accordance with the inhibitory effect of GAL in rodent memory tasks. However, there are some concerns with these behavioral studies. First, the dose of GAL used in memory tasks could be much higher than under physiological conditions. It is also possible that the memory deficits caused by the high levels of GAL in same studies are not likely to be induced by the level of GAL in AD patients. Second, the GALR antagonist, M40, has been reported to exhibit some agonist properties (Smith et al., 1997). If M40 acts as an agonist in this case, then effects of GAL and M40 in such studies would need to be re-evaluated.

In a GAL over-expressing transgenic model generated by Steiner et al. (2001), GAL expression is approximately two-fold higher in the forebrain and is also elevated in other nuclei compared with WT control (Steiner et al., 2001). In this model, the GAL transgenic mice showed performance deficits on learning and memory tasks, impaired LTP, reduced hippocampal excitability, lower evoked glutamate release, and reduced ChAT immunoreactive neurons in the horizontal DBB (Crawley et al., 2002).

Collectively, these observations have been invoked to support the hypothesis that GAL over-expression acts to inhibit neurotransmitter ACh release and impair cognition.

1.3.3.2 GAL as a neuroprotective factor

In spite of the above-mentioned studies, emerging data has also led to an alternative hypothesis that GAL may have a neuroprotective role in degeneration of cholinergic BF observed in AD patients.

In an autoradiographic study of GAL binding site in AD brain sections, Mufson and co-workers found a two-three-fold increase of [¹²⁵I]hGAL binding in anterior NBM in late stage AD (Mufson et al., 2000). This region is relatively spared in AD (Mufson et al., 1989). However in the posterior portion of NBM, which undergoes severe degeneration in AD, [¹²⁵I]hGAL binding densities were not significantly different in early or late AD compared to age-matched controls (Mufson et al., 2000). In a rat model with chemical lesion of the BF, no correlation between the GAL hypertrophy and cholinergic cell loss was observed (De Lacalle et al., 1997). These findings suggest that GAL upregulation might serve not only as a response to cholinergic degeneration, but exert a neuroprotective effect. Thus, an increase in GAL binding sites may play a role in the preservation of cholinergic BF neurons.

Another piece of evidence for the alternate GAL hypothesis comes from nerve growth factor (NGF) study by Planas et al. (1997). NGF, a neurotrophin factor for cholinergic BF neurons, will increase ACh synthesis and release when administered centrally in rats (Rylett et al., 1993). Using in situ hybridization and quantitative autoradiography, they reported that NGF strongly up-regulated GAL gene expression in cholinergic BF as well as ChAT gene in the rats following chronic intracerebroventricular NGF infusion (Planas et al., 1997). In keeping with the neurotrophic effects of NGF in the CNS, NGF induction of GAL gene expression may be an important component of the trophic actions of NGF on neuronal function, hence increasing cholinergic tone in BF.

A recent electrophysiology study from our lab demonstrated novel excitatory actions of GAL on cholinergic BF neurons, different from its traditional inhibitory role reported elsewhere in the CNS (Jhamandas et al., 2002). In this study, application of GAL to acutely dissociated rat BF DBB neurons caused a decrease in whole-cell voltageactivated currents in a majority of cells. By the use of single-cell RT-PCR technique, this effect was deemed to be specific to cholinergic, but not GABAergic neurons. Under current clamp conditions, GAL depolarized cholinergic neurons, an effect that was mimicked by even nanomolar co-application of the putative GALR antagonist M15 (galantide). This observation suggests that the GAL excitatory actions may serve a compensatory role by augmenting the ACh release and delay the progression of AD pathology, particularly when the levels of this peptide are upregulated as reported in AD brains (Jhamandas et al., 2002).

The "neuroprotective" GAL hypothesis is also supported by a transgenic mouse model carrying a loss-of-function mutation in GAL gene generated by Wynick and coworkers (O'Meara et al., 2000). In this model, they surprisingly observed the loss of onethird of cholinergic neurons in MS and vertical limb DBB of BF; a two-fold increase in the number of apoptotic cells in the forebrain at postnatal day seven; deficits in stimulated ACh release, performance in the Morris water maze, and induction of LTP in the CA1 region of hippocampus (O'Meara et al., 2000). These observations indicate that

GAL might act as a trophic factor in regulating the survival, development and function of cholinergic BF neurons.

Additional *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies are also consistent with the effect of GAL as a protective neuromodulator. In a rat traumatic brain injury model, GAL pretreated rats produced less magnitude of deficits compared to CSF treated ones on beam-balance, beam-walking, and other performances (Liu et al., 1994). In the periphery, Wynick and co-workers demonstrated that the rising levels of GAL after nerve injury may contribute to the initiation and maintenance of axonal regeneration in the injured neurons, leading to functional recovery and restoration of function (Mahoney et al., 2003). In CNS, neuronal hipocampal primary cultures from GAL knockout mice are more sensitive to kainate and staurosporine toxicity in comparison with wild type (WT) cultures, while cultures from GAL over-expressing models showed even less cell death compared to WT (Elliott-Hunt et al., 2004). In WT cultures, GAL significantly reduced staurosporine-induced and Gluinduced cell death, which could also be mimicked by GALR 2 specific angonist AR-M1896 (Elliott-Hunt et al., 2004).

Based on these collective data, we hypothesize that GAL might be neuroprotective in rat cholinergic BF for the following reasons. First of all, we observed excitatory effect of GAL on cholinergic BF neurons in contrast to the inhibitory effects for this peptide that have been reported in hippocampus and cortex. It is possible that these differences, i.e., excitatory versus inhibitory effects, may relate to the specific GALR that is activated. Second, in primary hippocampal culture, GAL acts as a neuroprotective factor against staurosporine and Glu toxicity suggesting that GAL may also work by the same mechanism in BF. Finally, the reduction of cholinergic activity

and deficits in memory tasks observed in GAL knock out mice indicate that GAL may work as a trophic factor in regulating the survival, development and function of cholinergic BF neurons.

The goal of this study is to exam the effect of GAL against $A\beta$ toxicity in rat BF neuronal primary cultures. We used our primary cultures of cholinergic BF neurons and performed apoptotic cell death assays to investigate the cell viability after GAL and $A\beta$ treatment. We also tested the effect of a GALR agonist specific for the GALR2. Finally we investigated the neuroprotective effect of GAL against $A\beta$ -induced activation of caspase 3, an executioner caspase.

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

2.1 Primary cell cultures

Primary rat basal forebrains were cultured from 17-d to 18-d-old fetuses of timedependent pregnant Sprague Dawley rats from Charles River Canada. Procedures for cell cultures have been previously described (Mennicken and Quirion, 1997). Septal regions containing the cholinergic neurons were dissected in Hanks balanced salt solution (Invitrogen, Burlington, Ontario, Canada) supplemented with 15 mM HEPES, 10U/ml penicillin, and 10mg/ml streptomycin. Tissue pieces were then digested with 0.05% tripsin at 37°C (15 min). Digestion was terminated by addition of fetal bovine serum. The cellular suspension was then completed by repeated aspirations through a firepolished small-bore Pasteur pipette. Following centrifugation for 10 min (800g), cells were plated on a 96 well plate (5×10^5 per well) for biochemical studies or on 12-mmdiameter coverslips (coated with 10mg/ml poly-D-lysine) for anatomical studies. The growth media consists of neurobasal media, 15mM HEPES, 10U/ml penicillin, 10mg/ml streptomycin and 2mM sodium pyruvate, supplemented with N₂ or B₂₇. The cultures were grown at 37°C (5% CO₂) in a 5% humidified atmosphere.

2.2 Acetylcholinesterase histochemistry

Enzymatic staining of AChE was performed according to the procedures recommended by Tago et al. (1896), slightly modified in our laboratory for primary cultures. 6-8 Day cultured cells on coverslips were fixed for 45 minutes in 4% paraformaldehyde and then washed three times with 0.1M Maleate buffer (pH 6.0), then incubated for 2 hours in the dark in a fresh solution consisting of 300μ M CuSO₄ 500μ M sodium citrate, 50μ M K₃Fe(CN)₆, 30μ M acetylthiocholine iodide in 0.1M maleate buffer. Cultures were then rinsed with PBS for 5 times, incubated in intensification solution consisting of 0.04% 3,3' diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride, 0.3% nickel ammonium sulfate and 0.003% H₂O₂ in 0.1M PBS for 15-30 minutes. Finally, the coverslips were dried, dehydrated, and mounted on glass slides.

2.3 Immunocvtochemistrv

Cultures on coverlips were fixed for 45 minutes in 4% paraformaldehyde followed by three rinses with phosphate buffered saline (PBS; pH 7.2-7.4). Primary antibodies to neuron-specific enolase (NSE; 1:1000; made in mouse), to ChAT (1:200; made in rabbit, gift from Dr. Kar) or to vesicular acetycholine transporter protein (VChAT, 1:500; made in rabbit; Sigma) were diluted in PBS with 0.3% Triton X-100 and added to the culture for overnight incubation at 4°C. Cultures were washed with PBS for 3 times the next day and were incubated in secondary antibody (anti-mouse for NSE staining; goat anti-rabbit IgG for ChAT and VChAT staining, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). Finally culture was stained by avidin-biotin-peroxidase (ABC) method (1:600; Vector Laboratories). ABC method is an immunoenzymatic technique, which

involves the application of biotinylated secondary antibody, followed by the addition of avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex, thus giving an amplified result (Hsu et al., 1981). After that the culture was exposed to 0.04% DAB in PBS with 0.003% H₂O₂ before the coverslips were dried, dehydrated, and mounted on glass slides. Cultured cells were examined under Zeiss microscope system. Three to four fields were randomly chosen, averaged and expressed as percent cell positive.

2.4 Treatment and cell death assays

Freshly solubilized $A\beta_{1-42}$, $A\beta_{25-35}$, their respective inverse (biologically inactive) forms, Aβ₄₂₋₁, Aβ₃₅₋₂₅, Glu, GAL peptide (rat; Aβ and GAL are from American peptide, Sunnyvale, CA) and GAL receptor 2 agonist AR-M1896 (gift from Dr. Schmidt, AstraZeneca, Montreal) were prepared to treat the cultured cells for experiments. To determine the dose response of GAL peptide, cultured neurons were treated with different concentrations (0.1-5.0 μ M) of the peptides. In each experiment and in subsequent experiments described below, each row of seven wells (of a 96 well plate) received the same treatment, and each experiment was repeated a minimum of three times. To evaluate the neuroprotective effects of GAL and AR-M1896 against A β toxicity, cultures were exposed to GAL or AR-M1896 (0.1 μ M and 1.0 μ M) for 24 hr and then 20 μ M A β_1 . $_{42}$ or A β_{25-35} was applied for 48 hr. Dose of A β used was based on pre-studies from our lab (Jhamandas and Mactavish, 2004), and work of others (Kar, et al.). To further evaluate the neuroprotective effects of GAL against Glu-induced excitotoxicity, cultures were exposed to GAL (0.1 μ M and 1.0 μ M) for 24 hr then exposed to Glu together with GAL for 48 hr. Dose of Glu used was based on Glu dose response on BF neuronal

cultures (data not shown). Cells in adjacent rows of wells received applications of either 20 μ M A β_{1-42} or A $\beta_{25.35}$ without GAL or AR-M1896 pretreatment. After 48 hr, the control and treated cultures were processed for (1) 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay (Sigma) to measure neuronal survival. MTT is a commonly used assay for cell proliferation and cytotoxicity by measuring mitochondrial function based on the reduction of the tetrazolim salt (Berridge and Tan, 1993). (2) Live-dead assay (Molecular Probes) was applied on cultured cells on coverslip, which were treated in the same manner with A β peptide and GAL (or AR-M1896). The live-dead viability-cytotoxicity assay is a two-color fluorescence cell viability assay based on the simultaneous determination of live and dead cells with two probes which measure two recognized parameters of cell viability—plasma membrane integrity and intracellular esterase activity (Papadopoulos et al., 1994). Quantification was assessed in the same system and same manner as in immunohistochemistry study.

2.5 Double immunofluorscent staining

For double staining primary cultures with anti-cleaved caspase-3 (made in rabbit; Cell Signaling) and anti-VChAT antibodies, cells were applied to glass coverslips and treated in the same manner with Aβ peptide and GAL. Cells were fixed for 45 minutes with 4% paraformaldehyde and permeabilized with 0.2% Triton X-100 in Tris buffered saline (TBS, pH 7.4). After blocking non-specific protein with 1% Albumin bovine serum (BSA, Sigma) in TBS with 0.2% Triton, cells were then incubated with anticleaved caspase-3 antibody (1:250) over night at 4°C. On the following day, cells were rinsed for 3 times and incubated with secondary antibody Alexa Fluor 488 chicken anti

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.
rabbit IgG (Green; 1:300; Molecular Probes) for 1.5 hours. Cells were rinsed again and incubated with anti VChAT antibody (1: 1000) over night 4°C. On the third day, cells were rinsed and incubated with biotinylated anti-rabbit IgG (1:250; Vector Laboratories) for 1.5 hours followed by the incubation with Steptavidin Alex Fluor 546 conjugate (Red; 1: 300; Molecular Probes) for 1.5 hours. Finally, coverslips were rinsed, dehydrated, and mounted on glass slides. Quantification was assessed in the same system and same manner as in immunohistochemistry study.

2.6 Immunoblotting

Western blotting was performed as described previously (Jhamandas and MacTavish, 2004). Briefly, samples of control cells and treated groups of cultured cells (treated with A $\beta_{1,42}$, and GAL pretreatment followed by A $\beta_{1,42}$) with equal amounts of protein were separated by 4-20% polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, and the resolved proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes and probed with anti-cleaved caspase-3 (made in rabbit; Cell Signaling).

2.7 Statistics

Data are presented as mean \pm SEM and were analyzed using *student t* test with the level of significance set at p < 0.05.

Chapter 3

Results

3.1 Characterization of BF primary cultures

We utilized a combination of histochemical and immunocytochemical methods to characterize the cholinergic cell phenotype in primary neuronal cultures. An average of 76.4 \pm 0.5% of the cells is positive for NSE staining, indicating that a significant portion of cells in our primary cultures are neuronal (Figure 1). The percentages of cells positive for AChE staining, VChAT and ChAT immunochemical staining were 78.1 \pm 2.9%, 81.3 \pm 1.4% and 77.0% (one experiment), respectively (Figure 1). This indicates that using a variety of different staining methodologies, the primary neuronal cultures we used consist mainly of cholinergic neurons.



Figure 1: Histochemistry and immunocytochemistry for rat primary neuronal septal cultures. The primary cultures contain 75-80% cholinergic neurons. Circled cells are positive for neuronal or cholinergic markers.

3.2 GAL effects on BF neurons

In an initial set of experiments, the effects of GAL (dose range 0.1μ M-5.0 μ M) on primary BF cultures were assessed. GAL alone was applied for 48 hrs and cell viability was measured using MTT assay. We observed a significant decrease in cell survival for the cells treated by GAL at a dose of 5.0 μ M (76.8±3.2% of neurons survived compared to controls Figure 2, *p*<0.05). No significant decrease of cell viability was observed in cells treat with GAL 0.1 μ M-1.0 μ M (Figure 2). We chose 0.1 μ M and 1.0 μ M for our further studies on the neuroprotective effects of GAL against A β toxicity.





3.3 Effect of GAL against Aβ toxicity on BF primary culture using MTT and livedead assays

We have already demonstrated that $A\beta$ ($A\beta_{25-35}$ and $A\beta_{1-42}$) is toxic to primary BF neurons in a concentration- and time-dependent manner (Jhamandas and MacTavish, 2004). We chose $A\beta$ ($A\beta_{25-35}$ and $A\beta_{1-42}$) dose of 20μ M as the concentration to induce cell death in our studies. Cell death was measured at 48 hrs post exposure to $A\beta$. $A\beta$, either $A\beta_{25-35}$ or $A\beta_{1-42}$ decreased cell viability by 50-60% as measured in MTT assay. Applications of inverse-sequence $A\beta$ peptides ($A\beta_{35-25}$ and $A\beta_{42-1}$) were used as control and were not neurotoxic to BF cultures. Pretreatment of the BF primary cultures for 24 hours with GAL resulted in a significant improvement by 15-20% in neuronal survival (p<0.05, Figure 3). The GAL-induced attenuation of neurotoxicity evoked by $A\beta_{25-35}$ and $A\beta_{1-42}$ was also observed when it was co-applied with $A\beta$, although not to the same degree as pretreatment with the drug (data not shown).

The neuroprotective effects of GAL on A β toxicity were also observed visually by phase-contrast microscopy of cultures following GAL and A β treatments (Figure 4). Control cells had large cell bodies, clear cell membrane, long dendrites and prominent axons (Figure 4a). A β treated cells displayed less healthy morphological features with smaller cell bodies and a lesser number of axons and dendrites (Figure 4b). GAL pretreated cells showed a morphologic enhancement of cells compared to those treated with A β alone (Figure 4c).



Figure 3: GAL protects BF neuronal culture against $A\beta$ toxicity as measured by MTT assay. Histograms show that $A\beta_{25.35}$ (a) or $A\beta_{1.42}$ (b) application for 48 hr produces a significant decrease in cell viability as measured by MTT assay. Pretreatment with GAL for 24 hr significantly attenuates $A\beta$ - induced cell death. GAL itself does not induce significant alteration in neuronal survival (*p<0.05; **p<0.01).



Figure 4: Phase-contrast photomicrographs of neuronal cultures treated with control media, $A\beta_{1,42}$ (20 μ M), GAL and A β , and GAL (1.0 μ M).

A β toxicity and the neuroprotective effects of GAL against A β toxicity were also measured using the live-dead assay (Figure 5, 6). Using the live-dead assay, the BF culture cells, after the treatment, were stained with either green fluorescence (live) or red fluorescence (dead) (Figure 5). Majority of the cells in control group are live while in the A β treated group, there are significantly more dead cells than live cells, which is consistent with the toxicity of A β towards BF cultured neurons (Figure 5a, 5b). There was an increase of live cells in GAL pretreated group compared with A β group (Figure 5c).

The live cells and dead cells were counted in each group and statistical analysis was performed (Figure 6). GAL 0.1μ M and 1.0μ M pretreatment increased neuronal survival by 13%-17% compared with A β treated cells. These data are consistent with those obtained from study performed using MTT assay as a measure of neuronal survival (Figure 3).





Figure 5: Live-dead assay photomicrographs of neuronal cultures treated with $A\beta_{1-2}$ and GAL. $A\beta$ induced cell death in cultured neurons (b1,b2) was attenuated by GAL (c1,c2).



Figure 6: Live-dead assay on neuronal cultures treated with $A\beta_{1\rightarrow 2}$ and GAL. GAL protects BF neuronal culture against $A\beta$ toxicity. Histograms show that compared to controls, $A\beta_{1\rightarrow 2}$ application for 48 hr produces a significant decrease in cell viability as measured by live-dead assay. Pretreatment with GAL for 24 hr significantly attenuates $A\beta$ induced cell death. GAL itself does not induce significant alteration in neuronal survival compared to control (*p<0.05; **p<0.01).

3.4 Caspase 3 pathwav is involved in Aβ induced neurotoxicity in BF neuronal culture and neuroprotective effects of GAL

Using western blotting, we examined whether GAL pre-treatment attenuated the Aβ-induced activation and cleavage of caspase 3. We observed presence of elevated products of caspase 3 in A β_{1-42} treated cultures. In contrast, very little of the cleaved caspase 3 was detected in the GAL pretreated group (Figure 7). Then we used double immunofluorescent staining (anti-cleaved caspase-3 and anti-VChAT) to ask whether the neuroprotective effects of GAL were specifically directed towards cholinergic neurons. We observed consistent decrease in caspase 3 negative cells (cells not undergoing apoptosis) in the A $\beta_{1,42}$ treated group compared with control cultures (Figure 8, 9a). The decrease was partly reversed by GAL pretreatment (Figure 8, 9a). Using VChAT staining as a marker for cholinergic neurons, we observed a significant decrease in the percentage of cholinergic neurons in the BF neuronal cultures following AB treatment, which was also partially reversed by GAL pretreatment, though not significantly (Figure 8, 9b). Combining these two markers, we analyzed the caspase 3 activity in cholinergic neurons in the neuronal cultures after $A\beta$ and GAL treatments. As expected, there was a significant decrease of the caspase 3 negative cells (cells not undergoing apoptosis) in cholinergic neurons of A β_{1-42} treated group compared with controls (Figure 9c). This was also partially reversed by GAL pretreatment (Figure 9c), suggesting that the neuroprotective effect of GAL against A β toxicity were directed mostly towards cholinergic neurons. There was no significant alteration of the number of either caspase 3 positive or VChAT positive cells compared with control after the cells were treated with $A\beta_{42-1}$ or GAL alone.



Galanin (1.0µM)	-	+	÷	-
Aβ ₁₋₁₂ (20μM)	+	+	-	-

Figure 7: Western blotting demonstrating the activation of Caspase 3 in the BF cultures, which was inhibited by GAL pretreatment.



VChAT



Figure 8: $A\beta$ induced caspase 3 activity in cultured BF neurons that was inhibited by GAL pretreatment. Caspase 3 and VChAT double immunofluorescent staining photomicrographs of neuronal cultures treated with $A\beta_{1,2}$ and GAL. For the double staining, cells expressing caspase 3 are green (Figure 7a1,b1,c1) and cells expressing VChAT are red (Figure 7a2,b2,c2).







Figure 9: Histograms depicting percent of cells with immunofluorescent staining for caspase 3 and VChAT to total cells, and the percent of cells with double staining to the total cells stained for VChAT (*p<0.05). A β induced a significant increase in the percent of caspase 3 positive cells in total cells (**a**), or in total cholinergic (VChAT positive) cells (**c**). GAL pretreatment partially reversed the A β -induced activation of caspase 3 (**a**,**c**). A β also significantly decreased the percent of cholinergic (VChAT positive) cells in the cultures, however, GAL pretreatment did not significantly increase the percent of cholinergic cells compared to A β group (**b**).

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

3.5 GAL neuroprotective effects are mimicked by GALR 2 agonist AR-M1896

Similar neuroprotective effects were observed as for GAL when we used GALR 2 agonist AR-M1896 as a pretreatment prior to exposure of BF cultures to $A\beta_{1-42}$. A 15-20% increase of cell viability was observed when cells were pretreated by AR-M1896 compared with the A β group, and measured using live-dead assay. Surprisingly, the neuroprotective effects of AR-M1896 were more modest when cell viability was tested by MTT assay (data not shown).



Figure 10: ARM1896 protects BF neuronal cultures against A β toxicity. Histograms show that A $\beta_{1\rightarrow 2}$ application for 48 hr produces a significant decrease in cell viability as measured by live-dead assay. Pretreatment with ARM1896 for 24 hr significantly attenuates A β induced cell death. ARM1896 at dose of 0.1µM does not induce significant alteration in neuronal survival, however, ARM1896 at dose of 1.0µM significantly decreases neuronal survival by 10% (*p<0.05, **p<0.01).

3.6 GAL is neuroprotective on Glu-induced neuronal cell death

To further explore the neuroprotective effects of GAL, we also investigated the effect of GAL pretreatment on Glu-induced excitotoxicity. We observed significant increase of neuronal survival in cells pretreated by GAL than those treated by Glu alone by 10% (at GAL dose of 0.1μ M, p<0.05) and 17% (at GAL dose of 0.01μ M, p<0.01) (Figure 11).



Figure 11: GAL protects BF neuronal culture against Glu excitotoxicity. Glu application for 48 hr produces a significant decrease of cell survival (p<0.01). GAL pretreatment significantly attenuates Glu-induced toxicity and improved cell survival by 10-20% at GAL doses of 0.1µM and 0.01µM (*p<0.05, **p<0.01).

Chapter 4

Discussion

4.1 Overview

The experimental data described in this thesis suggest an important role for GAL in the BF pathology of AD. Using BF primary neuronal culture system, we demonstrate that GAL pretreatment increases survival of cholinergic BF against A β induced apoptotic cell death, hence, providing evidence for the neuroprotective effects of GAL in the brain. Furthermore, we demonstrate that the neuroprotective effects of GAL occur via a blockade of caspase 3 activation evoked by A β . Our findings also suggest that these GAL effects on cholinergic BF neurons are likely mediated through the activation of GALR2. These data may help clarify the current controversies on the role of GAL in AD, and assist in GALR based drug development for AD patients.

4.2 GAL is neuroprotective in BF neuronal culture against $A\beta$ toxicity

We report GAL is consistently neuroprotective against A β toxicity in cholinergic BF neuronal culture as judged by visual observation, MTT assay, live-dead cell assay and caspase 3 activation. MTT assay is a traditional assay for cell proliferation and cytotoxicity. This assay mainly measures mitochondrial function based on the reduction of the tetrazolium salt (Berridge and Tan, 1993). By assay of MTT, we measured a 1520% increase of neuronal survival by GAL pretreatment compared with Aβ group. However, when we pretreated cultures with GALR2 agonist AR-M1896, we observed only moderate improvement of neuronal survival (5-10%, data not shown) by MTT assay. In AD, one of the possible mechanisms of A β toxicity is the generation of free radicals and oxidative stress, which mitochondria are very sensitive to (Eckert et al., 2003). Meanwhile, there are other pathogenetic mechanisms such as disrupted calcium homoeostasis, inflammatory response and activation of intracellular apoptotic signals. Therefore, a measure of mitochondria activity is but one of neuronal indicators of cell dysfunction and death. Finally, in our septal culture model we occasionally observed some discrepancy between the integrity of cell morphology and cell survival as measured by MTT. Hence, we used a parallel live-dead assay to complement our morphological observations and MTT assay. The live-dead cell viability/cytotoxicity assay is based on the determination of live and dead cells by measuring intracellular esterase activity and plasma membrane integrity. By live-dead assay, we observed significant improvement of cell survival against AB toxicity by pretreatment of GAL and AR-M1896. Both the MTT and live-dead assays are a measure of cell viability. We next addressed the issue of which apoptotic pathway is involved in the neuroprotective effects of GAL. Based on previous studies identifying caspase 3 as the primary executioner caspase consequent to A β exposure (Allen et al., 2001), we examined activation of caspase in the context of neuroprotective effects of GAL. We used cleaved caspase 3 as an apoptotic marker in our study. As a central apoptotic effector, caspase 3 is activated and cleaved by a variety of intracellular mediators, leading to the disruption of various cellular proteins that culminate in apoptotic cell death (Chang and Yang, 2000). By use of Western blotting,

we observed a higher level of cleaved caspase 3 expression in A β treated cells compared with control treated cells. This increase in cleaved caspase 3 expression was reversed in GAL pretreated cells. These observations indicated that exposure to $A\beta$ induced apoptotic cell death in the BF neuronal cultures, which was inhibited by GAL pretreatment. Next we were interested in determining whether the neuroprotective effects of GAL were directed specifically towards cholinergic neurons in the BF culture. By double immunofluorescent staining with anti-VChAT and anti-cleaved caspase 3, we confirmed our observations from Western blotting. The immunofluoresent staining consistently showed that $A\beta$ increased cleaved caspase 3 expression which was reversed by GAL pretreatment. Secondly, we analysed chemical phenotype of the cultures after Aß and GAL treatment and found a significant decrease of the percentage of cholinergic neurons in the BF cultures after A β treatment. The pretreatment with GAL increased, however not significantly, the percentage of surviving cholinergic neurons in the BF cultures compared with A^β treated culture. Finally we combined the VChAT staining and cleaved caspase 3 staining to explore the apoptotic cell death among cholinergic neurons in the BF culture after A β and GAL treatment. We observed that A β significantly increased cleaved caspase 3 expression in cholinergic neurons in the culture, indicating that AB induced significant apoptotic cell death. GAL pretreatment attenuated the increase of cleaved caspase 3 expression induced by A β , partially rescuing the cholinergic neurons from apoptotic cell death.

It is important to highlight that in our study, GAL pretreatment partially attenuated A β toxicity at the doses of 0.1 μ M and 1.0 μ M. At higher doses, an apparent toxic effect was observed when GAL is applied alone, as shown in GAL dose-response

46

(Figure 2). In other culture models, the inhibitory role of GAL has also been observed at high micromolar dose (Giustina et al., 1994). To our knowledge, the dose range in our study (0.1μ M- 1.0μ M) is among the lowest used in all the GAL studies in culture models. Recently, Wynick's group also reported that at the dose of 0.1μ M, GAL acts as a neuroprotective factor in hippocampal cultures (Elliott-Hunt et al., 2004). The different properties GAL displays at varying concentrations may help explain the controversies on the role of GAL in AD.

The conformations of $A\beta$, i.e. monomeric, oligomeric or fibrillar, is important in the context of $A\beta$ -induced toxicity. As an emerging point of view, soluble oligomeric form of $A\beta$ is thought to have the most potent toxic effects with the fibrillar form less toxic (Klein et al., 2001; Kirkitadze et al., 2002; Walsh et al., 2002). We presume that in our experiments, there are several of $A\beta$ species present since although the $A\beta$ was freshly prepared, there was ample time (48 hrs) for aggregation and fibrillogenesis to occur. However, it will be important to indentify the conformations of the $A\beta$ that are present in our cultures at different time points and these studies are in progress in our laboratory. As a potential mechanism of GAL neuroprotective effect, it may also be of interest to explore the interaction of GAL and $A\beta$ aggregation.

4.3 GALR2 is involved in the neuroprotective effect of GAL

Considerable studies have shown the GALR mRNA expression in BF. GALR1 mRNA was detected with relative abundance in the BF by northern blot, in situ hybridization and solution hybridization/RNase protection analyses (Counts et al., 2001). In saturation experiments and the comparative radioligand GAL binding studies in human BF, it is suggested that the radioligands were interacting with different GALRs within the BF and that two receptor subtypes, i.e., GALR1 and GALR2 exist in approximately the same concentration (Mufson et al., 1998). However, the presence of GALR3 proteins in the BF has not been reported yet. Therefore, we tried to identify the GALR1 and GALR2 in the culture by using a laboratory synthesized antibody and a commercially available antibody respectively (Pham et al., 2002). However, we were unable to verify the specificity of these antibodies in rat brain tissue. The GALR1 antibody was only used to label receptors in gastrointestinal tract, not CNS, which might be the reason for the failure of labeling the GALR1 in our BF neuronal cultures (Pham et al., 2002).

Because of the failure to recognize the GALRs by antibody, we tried to explore the involvement of specific GALR in neuroprotective effects by receptor specific compounds. We applied GALR2 specific agonist AR-M1896, a chimeric peptide from AstraZeneca, and showed that this agonist could mimic the neuroprotection of GAL against Aβ toxicity in the primary BF culture measured by live-dead assay. This peptide has also been used to confirm the neuroprotective effects of GAL against staurosporine and Glu-induced cell death in hippocampal cultures (Elliott-Hunt et al., 2004). This peptide binds to GALR2 preferentially with 500-fold specificity over GALR1, and with an almost complete loss of GALR1 activation (Elliott-Hunt et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2001). Hence, we believe that our data suggest the presence of GALR2 in the BF neuronal cultures and the involvement of GALR2 in the neuroprotective effects of GAL against Aβ toxicity.

We also applied a non-specific GALR agonist galnon to mimic the neuroprotective effect of GAL. This low molecular weight agonist was found to displace ¹²⁵I-galanin with micromolar affinity at Bowes cellular and rat hippocampal membranes (Saar et al., 2002). It is also observed that *in vivo*, i.p. injection of galnon reduced the severity and increased the latency of pentylenetertrazole-induced seizures in mice and reversed the proconvulsant effects of the GALR antagonist M35 (Saar et al., 2002). However, we did not obtain consistent results with galnon at up to micromolar concentration in BF primary cultures, probably because galnon is a non-peptide chemical. Furthermore, it has been reported recently that in CNS, galnon demonstrates both agonist and antagonist properties (Wang et al., 2004), which might also explain the inconsistent results observed with galnon in our BF neuronal culture model.

We did not study the activation of GALR1 or GALR3 because of the lack of receptor subtype-specific agonist. It is of interest to determine if other receptors may also be involved in GAL effects, especially GALR1 since GALR1 mRNA is relatively abundant in the BF (Counts et al., 2001). To investigate the intracellular signaling pathways downstream of specific GALRs may also be helpful to understand the neuroprotective effect we observed. GALR2 is coupled to the activation of phospholipase C and PKC, mediating pertussis toxin-sensitive MAPK activity (Wang et al., 1998). Activation of GALR2 could probably improve cholinergic tone and also the survival of cholinergic BF neurons. It is demonstrated that GALR2 is the principle receptor involved in the initiation and maintenance of axonal regeneration after peripheral nerve injury which is also PKC dependent (Mahoney et al., 2003). In contrast, GALR1 is mainly coupled to G_i protein and inhibition of adenylyl cyclase and therefore potentially may inhibit cholinergic function (Counts et al., 2003). Based on these observations, the different signaling pathways GALRs initiate may explain the controversies in behavioral studies, transgenic models, and also the indication of the role GAL plays in AD. Therefore the development of GALR specific ligands will be critically important for future research in determining the different physiological and pathophysiological roles of GAL.

Not only the paucity of receptor specific agonists, but also the shortage of GALR antagonists has hampered study of functional role of GAL in AD. There are a few chimeric peptides as candidates for GALR antagonists such as M15, M35, M40 and C7. However, the uncertainty surrounding these peptides is that they act as GALR agonists in some models. A number of studies showed that these chimeric peptides act as agonists *in vitro* (Wang et al., 2004). In CHO cells expressing the GALR 2 receptor, M15, M35, M40 and C7 were found to be full agonists in the stimulation of phosphoinositide hydrolysis (Smith et al., 1997). These peptides also behaved as agonists at the cloned rat GALR1 receptor (Smith et al., 1997; Forray et al., 1996). In our laborotary, M15 (galantide) applied in nM dose range depolarized rat cholinergic BF neurons in much the same manner as GAL (Jhamandas et al., 2002). These putative antagonists will add to the difficulty in evaluating the effects of GAL in the CNS and elsewhere.

<u>4.4</u> Activation of caspase 3 is involved in $A\beta$ toxicity and GAL neuroprotective effect

Recent studies suggest the upregulation of various caspases (caspase 3, 8, and 9) in the post-mortem tissue of sporadic AD patients (Eckert et al., 2003). In *in vitro* culture models, multiple caspases are activated in A β induced neuronal apoptosis, such as caspase 2, 3, 6 and 8 (Stadelmann et al., 1999; Allen et al., 2001; Wei et al., 2002). Here we consistently report the activation of caspase 3 after A β treatment in BF neuronal cultures. When the cultured cells were pretreated with GAL, we observed less caspase activation, by both Western blot and immunostaining. As an executioner caspase, activation of caspase 3 will result in the cleavage of various cellular proteins and lead to the apoptotic cell death (Chang and Yang, 2000). These observations indicated that GAL might protect the culture against A β toxicity by inhibition of apoptotic pathways activated by A β . Combining the VChAT and cleaved caspase 3 staining, we further demonstrated that GAL protected cholinergic neurons in BF neuronal culture through inhibition of apoptotic cell death.

4.5 Possible mechanisms underlying GAL neuroprotection

There is no direct evidence identifying the major mechanism of GAL neuroprotection against A β toxicity. However, the mechanisms of A β toxicity have been comprehensively studied, including: 1) increasing Ca²⁺ influx and dysregulation of calcium homeostasis; 2) free radical accumulation; 3) activation of apoptotic intracellular pathway. Towards the mechanisms of A β toxicity, we infer that GAL may possible protect cholinergic neuronal cultures through the following mechanisms: 1) Attenuation of calcium-mediated neurotoxicity induced by A β . There is evidence showing that GAL reduced Ca²⁺ influx through L- and N-type voltage-sensitive Ca²⁺ channels (Palazzi et al., 1991; Kalkbrenner et al., 1995). GAL could also inhibit glucose-stimulated insulin release by hyperpolarization and lowering of cytoplasmic free Ca²⁺ concentration (Ahren et al., 1986). 2) Affecting free radical generation. There is no direct evidence showing GAL affecting free radical generation. However, GAL has been reported to interact with glutamatergic system and inhibit Glu release (Kinney et al., 1998; Mazarati et al., 2000).

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

If Glu is involved in A β toxicity in AD, it is possible that GAL protects cultured cells through interaction with glutamatergic system. 3) Intracellular pathway. The intracellular signaling pathways coupled to GAL receptor activation have not been well recognized. There is evidence showing that activation of MAPK pathway following GAL receptor binding (Branchek et al., 1998). This seems contradictory to neuropretective effects of GAL since activation of MAPK pathway will lead to tau phosphorylation that will be deleterious to cell survival. However, there may be other survival pathways coupled to GAL receptor activation of G proteins. 4) Interaction with A β targeted receptors and A β aggregation. There is at present no supporting evidence for this possibility, although further studies in this area may prove fruitful.

4.6 Conclusion

We have demonstrated that GAL is neuroprotective against $A\beta$ toxicity in BF neuronal culture, and GALR 2 may be involved in mediating this neuroprotective effect. The neuroprotection in our model is moderate (15-20%). However, it clearly suggests a neuroprotective rather than a neurotoxic role for GAL. In this respect our findings are novel and distinct. We also demonstrated that the neuroprotective effect of GAL is directed mainly towards improving survival of cholinergic BF neurons rendered dysfunctional by $A\beta$, which is highly relevant to the neuropathology observed in AD. Therefore, further efforts in this developing field to better understand the role of GAL plays in AD, the underlying mechanisms of action of GAL, and the development of new therapy based on GAL agonists and antagonists would be highly beneficial in treating AD and similar neurodegenerative diseases.



Figure 12: $A\beta$ induced apoptotic cascade and the involvement of GAL as a neuroprotective factor. $A\beta$ causes apoptotic cell death through the interruption of calcium homeostasis, generation of free radicals and activation of apoptotic intracellular pathways. Several Caspases pathways are activated and cells undergo apoptosis. GAL partially inhibits the caspase 3 activation induced by $A\beta$. However, the mechanisms of the GAL neuroprotective effects remain undiscovered. GALR2 may be involved in mediating GAL neuroprotection.

Reference List

Ahren, B., Arkhammar, P., Berggren, P.O., Nilsson, T., 1986. Galanin inhibits glucosestimulated insulin release by a mechanism involving hyperpolarization and lowering of cytoplasmic free Ca^{2+} concentration. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 140: 1059-1063.

Allen, J.W., Eldadah, B.A., Huang, X., Knoblach, S.M., Faden, A.I., 2001. Multiple caspases are involved in β -amyloid-induced neuronal apoptosis. J. Neurosci. Res. 65: 45-53.

Arendt, T., 2001. Alzheimer's disease as a disorder of mechanisms underlying structural brain self-organization. Neurosci. 102: 723-765.

Arriagada, P.V., Growdon, J.H., Hedley-Whyte, E.T., Hyman, B.T., 1992. Neurofibrillary tangles but not senile plaques parallel duration and severity of Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 42: 631-639.

Auld, D.S., Kornecook, T.J., Bastianetto, S., Quirion, R., 2002. Alzheimer's disease and the basal forebrain cholinergic system: relations to β -amyloid peptides, cognition, and treatment strategies. Progress in Neurobiology 68: 209-245.

Beal, M.F., MacGarvey, U., MS, Swarta, K.J., 1990. Galanin immunoreactivity is increased in the nucleus basalis of meynert in Alzheimer's disease. Ann. Neurol. 28: 157-161.

Berridge, M.V., Tan, A.S., 1993. Characterization of the cellular reduction of 3-(4,5dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT): subcellular localization, substrate dependence, and involvement of mitochondrial electron transport in MTT reduction. Arch. Biochem. Bioph. 303: 474-482.

Bowser, R., Kordower, J.H., Mufson, E.J., 1997. A confocal microscopic analysis of galaninergic hyperinnervation of cholinergic basal forebrain neurons in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Pathol. 7: 723-730.

Branchek, T., Smith, K., Walker, M.W., 1998. Molecular biology and pharmacology of galanin receptors. Annals N.Y. Acad. Sci. 863: 94-107.

Branchek, T.A., Smith, K.E., Gerald, C., Walker, M.W., 2000. Galanin receptor subtypes. Trends Pharmacological Sci. 21: 109-116. Chang, H.Y., Yang, X., 2000. Proteases for cell suicide: Functions and regulation of caspases. Microbio. Mol. Bio. Rev. 64: 821-846.

Chan-Palay, V., 1988. Galanin hyperinnervates surviving neurons of the human basal nucleus of meynert in dementias of Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease: A hypothesis for the role of galanin in accentuating cholinergic dysfunction in dementia. J. Comp. Neurol. 273: 543-557.

Chan-Palay. V., 1988. Neurons with galanin innervate cholihergic cells in the human basal forebrain and galanin and acetylcholine coexist. Brain Res. Bull. 21: 465-472.

Cheung, A., Polak, J.M., Bauer, F.E., Cadieux, A., Christofides, N.D., Springall, D.R., Bloom, S.R., 1985. Distribution of galanin immunoreactivity in the respiratory tract of pig, guinea pig, rat, and dog. Thorax 40: 889-896.

Counts, S.E., Perez, S.E., Kaul, U., Bartfai, T., Bowser, R.P., Deecher, D.C., Mash, D.C., Crawley J.N., Mufson, E.J., 2001. Galanin: Neurobiologic mechanisms and theraputic potential for Alzheimer's disease. CNS Drug Reviews 7: 445-470.

Counts, S.E., Perez, S.E., Ginsberg, S.D., Lacalle, S. Mufson, E.J., 2003. Galanin in Alzheimer disease. Mol. Invent. 3: 137-156.

Crawley, J.N., Mufson, E.J., Hohmann, J.G., Teklemichael, D., Steiner, R.A., Holmberg, K., Xu, Z.Q.D., Blakeman, K.H., Xu, X.J., Wiesenfeld-Hallin, Z., Bartfai, T., Hökfelt, T., 2002. Galanin overexpressing transgenic mice. Neuropeptides 36: 145-156.

De Lacalle, S. Kulkarni, S., Mufson, E.J., 1997. Plasticity of galaninergic fibers following neurotoxic damage within the rat basal forebrain: Initial observations. Exp. Neurol. 146: 361-366.

Drachman, D.A., Leavitt, J., 1974. Human memory and the cholinergic system. Arch. Neurol. 30: 113-121.

Dutar, P., Lamour, Y., Nicoll, R.A., 1989. Galanin blocks the slow cholinergic EPSP in CA1 pyramidal neurons from ventral hippocampus. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 164: 355-360.

Eckert, A., Keil, U., Marques, C.A., Bonert, A., Frey, C., Schüssel, K., Müller, W.E., 2003. Mitochondrial dysfunction, apoptotic cell death, and Alzheimer's disease. Biochem. Pharmacol. 66: 1627-1634.

Elliott-Hunt, C.R., Marsh, B., Bacon, A., Pope, R., Vanderplank, P., Wynick, D., 2004. Galanin acts as a neuroprotective factor to the hippocampus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 101: 5105-5110.

Fisone, G., Wu, C.F., Consolo, S., Nordström, Ö., Brynne, N., 1987. Galanin inhibits acetylcholine release in the ventral hippocampus of the rat: Histochemical, autoradiographic, *in vivo*, and *in vitro* studies. Proc. Natl, Acad. Sci. 84: 7339-7343.

Fisone, G., Berthold, M., Bedecs, K., Undén, A., Bartfai, T., Bertorelli, R., Consolo, S., Crawley, J., Martin, B., Nilsson, S., Hökfelt, T., 1989. N-terminal galanin-(1-16) fragment is an agonist at the hippocampal galanin receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 86:9588-9591.

Forray, C., Smith, K., Gerald, C., Vaysse, P., Weinshank, R., Branchek, T., 1996. Soc. Neurosci. Abstr. 22: 1304.

Friedlander, R.M., 2003. Apoptosis and caspases in neurodegenerative deseases. New Eng. J. Med. 348: 1365-1375.

Fu, W., Jhamandas, J.H., 2003. β -Amyloid peptide activates non- α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in rat basal forebrain neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 90:3130-3136.

Giustina, A., Bonfanti, C., Licini, M., Rango, C.D., Milani, G., 1994. Inhibitory effect of galnin on growth hormone release from rat pituitary tumor cells (GH1) in culture. Life Sci. 55: 1845-1851.

Gundlach, A.L., Galanin/GALP and galanin receptors: role in central control of feeding, body weight/obesity and reproduction? Europ. J. Pharm. 440: 255-268.

Habert-Ortoli, E., Amiranoff, B., Loquet, I., Laburthe, M., Mayaux, J., 1994. Molecular cloning of a functional human galanin receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 91: 9780-9783.

Hardy, J.A., Higgins, G.A., 1992. Alzheimer's disease: The amyloid cascade hypothesis. Science 256: 184-185.

Holmes, F.E., Mahoney, S., King, V.R., Bacon, A., Kerr, N.C.H., Pachnis, V., Curtis, R., Priestley, J.V., Wynick, D., 2000. Targeted disruption of the galanin gene reduces the number of sensory neurons and their regenerative capacity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 97:11563-11568.

Hsu, S.M., Raine, L., Fanger, H., 1981. Use of avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex (ABC) in immunoperosidase techniques: a comparison between ABC and unlabeled antibody (PAP) procedures. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 29: 577-580.

Jhamandas, J.H., Harris, K.H., MacTavish, D., Fassar, B.S., 2002. Novel excitatory actions of galanin on rat cholinergic basal forebrain neurons: Implications for its role in Alzheimer's disease. J. Neruophusiol. 87: 696-704.

Jhamandas, J., MacTavish, D., 2004. Antagonist of the amyloid receptor blocks β -amyloid toxicity in rat cholinergic basal forebrain neurons. J. Neurosci. 24:5579-5584.

Kalkbrenner, F., Degtiar, V.E., Schenker, M., Brendel, S., Zobel, A., Heschler, J., Wittig, B., Schultz, G., 1995. Subunit composition of G(o) proteins functionally coupling galanin receptors to voltage-gated calcium channels. EMBO 14: 4728-4737.

Kaplan, L.M., Spindel, E.R., Isselbacher, K.J., Chin, W.W., 1988. Tissue-specific expression of the rat galanin gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 85:1065-1069.

Kar,S., Seto, D., Gaudreau, P., Quirion, R., 1996. β -amyloid-related peptides inhibit potassium-evoked acetylcholine release from rat hippocampal slices. J. Neurosci. 16(3): 1034-1040.

Kar, S., Issa, M., Seto, D., Auld, D.S., Collier, B., Quirion, R., 1998. Amyloid β -peptide inhibits high-affinity choline uptake and acetylcholine release in rat hippocampal slices. J. Neurochem. 70: 2179-2187.

Kelly, J.F., Furukawa, K., Barger, S.W., Gengen, M.R., Mark, R.J., Blanc, E.M., Roth, G.S., Mattson, M.P., 1996. Amyloid β -peptide disrupts carbachol-induced muscarinic cholinergic signal transduction in cortical neurons. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 93:6753-6758.

Kinney, G.A., Emmerson, P.J., Miller, R.J., 1998. Galanin receptor-mediated inhibition of glutamate release in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus. J. Neurosci. 18: 3489-3500.

Kirkitadze, M.D., Bitan, G., Teplow, D.B., 2002. Paradigm shifts in Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative disorders: The emerging role of oligomeric assemblies. J. Neurosci. Res. 69:567-577.

Klein, W.L., Krafft, G.A., Finch, C.E., 2001. Targeting small $A\beta$ oligomers: the solution to an Alzheimer's disease conundrum? Trends Neurosci. 24: 219-224.

Kordower, J.H., Mufson, E.J., 1990. Galanin-like immunoreactivity within the primate basal forebrain: differential staining patterns between humans and monkeys. J. Comp. Neurol. 294: 281-292.

Kordower, J.H., Le, H.K., Mufson, E.J., 1992. Galanin-like immunoreactivity in the primate central nervous system. J. Comp. Neurol. 319: 479-500.

Liu, H.X., Brumovsky, P., Schmidt, R., Brown, W., Payza, K., Hodzic, L., Pou, C., Godbout, C., Hökfelt, T., 2001. Receptor subtype-specific pronociceptive and analgesic actions of galanin in the spinal cord: Selective action via GalR and GalR2 receptors. PNAS 98: 9960-9964.

Liu, S., Lyeth, B.G., Hamm, R.J., 1994. Pretective effect of galanin on behavioral deficits in experimental traumatic brain injury. J. Neurotrauma 11: 73-82.

Machenthaler, I., López, F.J., Negro-Vilar, A., 1993. Anatomy and physiology of central galanin-containing pathways. Prog. In Neurobio. 40: 711-769.

Mahoney, S.A., Hosking, R., Farrant, S., Holmes, F.H., Jacoby, A.S., Shine, J., Iismaa, T.P., Scott, M. K., Schmidt, R., Wynick, D., 2003. The second galanin receptor GalR2 plays a key role in neurite outgrowth from adult sensory neurons. J. Neurosci. 23: 416-421.
Mazarati, A.M., Hohmann, J.G., Bacon, A., Liu, H., Sankar, R., Steiner, R.A., Wynick, D., Wasterlain, C.G., 2000. Modulation of hippocampal excitability and seizures by galanin. J. Neurosci. 20: 6276-6281.

McDonald, M.P., Gleason, T.C., Robinson, J.K., Crawley, J.N., 1998. Galanin inhibits performance on rodent memory tasks. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 863: 305-322.

McDonald, M.P., Willard, L.B., Wenk, G.L., Crawley, J.N., 1998. Coadministration of galanin antagonist M40 with a muscarinic M_1 agonist improves delayed nonmatching to position choice accuracy in rats with cholinergic lesions. J. Neurosci. 18: 5078-5085.

Melander, T., Hökfelt, T., Rökaeus, A., Fahrenkrug, J., Tatemoto, K., Mutt, V., 1985. Distribution of galanin-like immunoreactivity in the gastro-intestinal tract of several mammalian species. Cell Tissue Res. 239: 253-270.

Melander, T., Satiners, W.A., Hökfelt, T., Rokaeus, A., Eckenstein, F., Salvaterra, P.M., Wainer, B.H., 1985. Galanin-like immunoreactivity in cholinergic neurons of the weptum-basal forebrain complex projectin to the hippocampus of the rat. Brain Res. 23: 130-138.

Melander, T., Hökfelt, T., Rökaeus, A., 1986. Distribution of galaninlike immunoreactivity in the rat central nervous system. J. Comp. Neurol. 248: 475-517.

Mennicken, F., Quirion, R., 1997. Interleukin-2 increases choline acetyltransferase activity in septal-cell cultures. Synapse 26: 175-183.

Merchenthaler, I., López, F.J., Negro-Vilar, A., 1993. Anatomy and physiology of central galanin-containing pathways. Prog. Neurobio. 40: 711-769

Miller, M.A., Kolb, P.E., Planas, B., Raskind, M.A., 1998. Few cholinergic neurons in the rat basal forebrain coexpress galanin messenger RNA. J. Comp. Neuro. 391: 248-258.

Morishima, Y., Gotoh, Y., Zieg, J., Barrett, T., Takano, H., Flavell, R., Davis, R.J., Shirasaki, Y., Greenberg, M.E., 2001. β -Amyloid induces neuronal apoptosis via a mechanism that involves the c-Jun N-terminal kinase pathway and the induction of fas ligand. J. Neurosci. 21(19): 7551-7560.

Mudher, A., Lovestone, S., 2002. Alzheimer's disease-do tauists and Baptists finally shake hands? Trends Neurosci. 25: 22-26.

Mufson, E.J., Bothqwll, M., Kordower, J.H., 1989. Loss of nerve growth factor receptorcontaining neurons in Alzheimer's disease: A quantitative analysis across subregions of the basal forebrain. Exp. Neurol. 105: 221-232.

Mufson, E.J., Cochran, E., Benzing, W., Kordower, J.H., 1993. Galaninergic innervation of the cholinergic vertical limb of diagonal band (ch2) and bed nucleus of the stria terminalis in aging, Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome. Dementia 4: 237-250.

Mufson, E.J., Kahl, U., Bowser, R., Mash, D.C., Kordower, J.H., Deechier, D.C., 1998. Galanin expression within the basal forebrain in Alzheimer's disease. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 863: 291-304.

Mufson, E.J., Deecher, D.C., Basile, M., Izenwasse, S., Mash, D.C., 2000. Galanin receptor plasticity within the nucleus basalis in early and late Alzheimer's disease: an in vitro autoradiographic analysis. Neuropharm. 39: 1404-1412.

Näslund, J., Haroutunian, V., Mohs, R., Davis, K.L., Davies, P., Greengard, P., Buxbaum, J.D., 2000. Correlation between elevated levels of amyloid β -peptide in the brain and cognitive decline. JAMA 283: 1571-1577.

Nitsch, R.M., Slack, B.E., Wurtman, R.J., Growdon, J.H., 1992. Release of Alzheimer amyloid precursor derivatives stimulated by activation of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors. Science. 258: 304-307.

O'Meara, G., Coumis, U., Ma, S.Y., Kehr, J., Mahoney, S., Bacon, A., Allen, S.J., Holmes, F., Kahl, U., Wang, F.H., Kearnns, L.R., Ove-Ogren, S., Dawbarn, D., Mufson, E.J., Davies, C., Dawson, G., Wynick, D., 2000. Galanin regulates the postnatal survival of a subset of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 97: 11569-11574.

Palazzi, E., Felinska, S., Zambelli, M., Fisone, G., Bartfai, T., Consolo, S., 1991. Galanin reduces carbachol stimulation of phosphoinositide turnover in rat ventral hippocampus by lowering Ca^{2+} influx through voltage-sensitive Ca^{2+} channels. J. Neurochem. 56: 739-747. Papadopoulos, N.G., Dedoussis, G.V.Z., Spanakos, G., Gritzapis, A.D., Baxevanis, C.N., Papamichail, M., 1994. An improved fluorescence assay for the determination of lymphocyte-mediated cytotoxicity using flow cytometry. J. Immu. Meth. 177: 101-111.

Papas, S., Bourque, C.W., 1997. Galanin inhibits continuous and phasic firing in rat hypothalamic magnocellular neurosecretory cells. J. Neurosci. 17: 6048-6056.

Pettit, D.L., Shao, Z., Yakel, J.L., 2001. β -Amyloid₁₋₄₂ peptide directly modulates nicotinic receptors in the rat hippocampal slice. J. Neurosci. 21: 1-5.

Pham, T., Guerrini, S., Wong, H., Reeve, J., Sternini, C., 2002. Distribution of galanin receptor 1 immunoreactivity in the rat stomach and small intestine. J. Comp. Neurol. 450: 292-302.

Planas, B., Kolb, P.E., Baskind, M.A., Miller, M.A., 1997. Nerve growth factor induces galanin gene expression in the rat basal forebrain: Implication for the treatment of cholinergic dysfunction. J. Comp. Neurol. 379: 563-570.

Rapoport, M., Ferreira, A., 2000. PD98059 prevents neurite degeneration induced by fibrillar β -amyloid in mature hippocampal neurons. J. Neurochem. 74: 125-133. ¹²⁵I-Galanin binding sites in Alzheimer;s disease: increases in hippocampal subfields and a decrease in the caudate nucleus. J. Neurochem. 68: 1106-1113.

Rodríguez-Pzertas, R., Nilsson, S., Pascual, J., Pazos, A., Hökfelt, T., 1997. ¹²⁵I-Galanin binding sites in Alzheimer's disease: Increase in hippocampal subfields and a decrease in the caudate nucleus. J. Neurochem. 68: 1106-1113.

Rökaeus, Å., Brownsterin, M.J., 1986. Construction of a procine adrenal medullary cDNA library and nucleotide sequence analysis of two clones encoding a galanin precursor. Pro. Natl. Acad. Sci. 83: 6287-6291.

Roth, K.A., 2001. Caspases, apoptosis, and Alzheimer disease: causation, correlation, and confusion. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neuro. 60(9): 829-838.

Ruczynski, J., Cybal, M., Wójcikowski, C., Rekowski, P., 2002. Effects of porcine galanin, galanin(1-15)NH₂ and its new analogues on glucose-induced insulin secretion. Polish J. Pharmacol. 54: 133-141.

Rylett, R.J., Goddard, S., Schmidt, B.M., Williams, L.R., 1993. Acetylcholine synthesis and release following continuous intracerebral administration of NGF in adult and aged Fischer-344 rats. J. Neurosci. 13: 3956-3963.

Saar, K., Mazarati, A.M., Mahlapuu, R., Hallnemo, G., Soomets, U., Soomets, U., Killk, K., Hellberg, S., Pooga, M., Tolf, B., Shi, T.S., Höfelt, T., Wasterlain, C., Bartfai, T., 2002. Anticonvulsant activity of a nonpeptide galanin receptor agonist. PNAS. 99: 7136-7141.

Sakurai, E., Maeda, T., Kaneko, S., Akaike, A., Satoh, M., 1996. Galanin inhibits longterm potentiation at Schaffer collateral-CA1 synapses in guinea-pig hippocampal slices. Neurosci. Lett. 212: 21-24.

Selkoe, D.J., 1994. Alzheimer's disease: A central role for amyloid. J. Neuropathol. Exp, Neurol. 53: 438-447.

Selkoe, D.J., 2001. Alzheimer's disease: Genes, Proteins, and Therapy. Physiol. Rev. 81: 741-766.

Seutin, V., Verbanck, P., Massotte, L., Dresse, A., 1989. Galanin decreases the activity of locus coeruleus neurons in vitro. Euro. J. Pharmachol. 164: 373-376.

Sharp, G.W.G., Marchand-Brustel, Y.L., Yada, T., Russo, L.L., 1989. Galanin can inhibit insulin release by a mechanism other than membrane hyperpolarization or inhibition of adenylate cyclase. J. Bio. Chem. 264(13): 7302-7309.

Sisodia, S.S., Editor, S., 1999. Alzheimer's disease: perspectives for the new millennium. J. Clin. Invest. 104: 1169-1170.

Smith, K.E., Forraym C., Walker, M.W., Jones, K.A., Tamm, J.A., Bard, J., Branchek, T.A., Linemeyer, D.L., Gerald, C., 1997. Expression cloning of a rat hypothalamic galanin receptor coupled to phosphoinositide turnover. J. Bio. Chem. 272: 24612-24616.

Smith, K.E., Walker, M.W., Artymyshyn, R., Bard, J., Borowsky, B., Tamm, J. A., Yao, W.J., Vaysse, P.J.J., Branchek, T.A., Gerald, C., Jones, K.A., 1998. Cloned human and rat galanin GALR3 receptors. J. Bio. Chem. 273: 23321-23326.

Stadelmann, C., Deckwerth, T.L., Srinivasan, A., Bancher, C., Brück, W., Jellinger, K., Lassmann, H., 1999. Activation of caspase-3 in single neurons and autophagic granules of granulovacuolar degeneration in Alzheimer's disease. Am. J. Pathol. 155: 1459-1466.

Steiner, R.A., Hohmann, J.G., Holmes, A., Wrenn, C.C., Cadd, G., Juréus, A., Clifton, D.K., Luo, M., Gutshall, M., Ma, S.Y., Mufson, E.J., Crawley, J.N., 2001. Galanin transgenic mice display cognitive and neurochemical deficits characteristic of Alzheimer's disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 98: 4184-4189.

Stromberg, I., Bjorklund, H., Melander, T., Rokaeus, A., Hökfelt, T., Olson, L., 1987. Galanin-immunoreactive nerves in the iris: alterations induced by denervations. Cell Tissue Res. 250: 267-275.

Suh, Y.H., Checler F., 2002. Amyloid precursor protein, presenilins, and α -synuclein: Molecular pathogenesis and pharmacological applications in Alzheimer's diseas. Pharmacol. Rev. 54(3): 469-525.

Tago, H., Kimura, H., Maeda, T., 1986. visualization of detailed acetylcholinesterase fiber and neuron staining in rat brain by a sensitive histochemical procedure. J. Histo. Cytochem. 34: 1431-1438.

Takashima, A., Noguchi, K., Sato, K., Hoshino, T., Imahori, K., 1993. Tau protein kinase I is essential for amyloid β -protein-induced neurotoxicity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Aci. USA 90: 7789-7793.

Takashima, A., Honda, T., Yasutake, K., Michel, G., Murayama, O., Murayama, M., Ishiguro, K., Yamaguchi, H., 1998. Activation of tau protein kinase I/glycogen synthase kinase- 3β by amyloid β peptide (25-35) enhances phosphorylation of tau in hoppocampal neurons. Neurosci. Res. 31: 317-323.

Tatemoto, K., Rökaeus, A., Jörwall, H., McDonald, T.J., Mutt, V., 1983. Galanin- anovel biologically active peptide from porcine intestine. FEBS Lett. 164: 124-128

Teter, B., Ashford, W., 2002. Neuroplasticity in Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurosci. Res. 70: 402-437.

Troy, C.M., Rabacchi, S.A., Xu, Z., Maroney, A.C., Connors, T.J., Shelanski, M.L., Greene, L.A., 2001. β -Amyloid-induced neuronal apoptosis requires c-Jun N-terminal kinase activation. J. Neurochem. 77:157-164.

Walker, L.C., Rance, N.E., Price, D.L., Young, W.S., 1991. Galanin mRNA in the nucleus basalis of Meynert complex of baboons and humans. J. Comp. Neurol. 303: 113-120.

Walsh, D.M., Klyubin, I., Fadeeva, J.V., Rowan, M.J., Selkoe, D.J., 2002. Amyloid- β oligomers: their production, toxicity and therapeutic inhibition. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 30: 552-557.

Wang, H.Y., Wild, K.D., Shank, R.P., Lee, D.H.S., 1999. Galanin inhibits acetylcholine release from rat cerebral cortex via a pertussis toxin-sensitive G_i protein. Neuropeptides 33(3) 197-205.

Wang, S., Hashemi, T., Fried, S., Clemmons, A.L., Hawes, B.E., 1998. Defferential intracellular signaling of the GalR1 and GalR2 galanin receptor subtypes. Biochem. 37: 6711-6717.

Wang, S., He, C, Hashemi, T., Bayne, M., 1997. Cloning and expressional characterization of a novel galanin receptor. J. Bio. Chem. 272: 31949-31952.

Wang, Y., Fritz, J.E., Baez, M., 2004. Functional activity of galanin peptide analogues. Soc. Neurosci. Abstr. 960.4.2004

Wang, Y.F., Mao, Y.K., McDonald, J., Daniel, E.E., 1995. Distribution of galaninimmunoreactive nerves in the canine gastrointestinal tract. Peptides 16: 237-247.

Wei, W., Norton, D.D., Wang, X., Kusiak, J.W., 2002. Aβ17-42 in Alzhemimer's disease activates JNK and caspase-8 leading to neuronal apoptosis. Brain 125: 2036-2043.

Wennerberg, A.B.A., Cooke, R.M., Carlquist, M., Rigler, R., Campbell, I.D., 1990. A *IH* NMR study of the solution conformation of the neuropeptide galanin. Biochem. Biophy. Res. Commun. 166(3): 1102-1109.

Wrenn, C.C., Crawley, J.N., 2001. Pharmacological evidence supporting a role for galanin in cognition and affect. Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacol. & Biol. Psychiat. 25: 283-299.

Xu, X.J., Hökfelt, T., Bartfai, T., Wjiesenfeld-Hallin, Z., 2000. Galanin and spinal nociceptive mechanisms: recent advances and therapeuric implications. Neuropeptides 34: 137-147.

Yoshimura, T., Ishizuka, J., Greeley, G.H., JR., Thompson, J.C., 1989. Effect of galanin on glucose-, arginine-, or potassium-stimulated insulin release. Am. J. Physio. 256: E619-E623.

Zhang, X., Xu, Z.Q., Shi, T.J., Landry, M., Holmberg, K., Ju, G., Tong, Y.G., Bao, L., Cheng, X.P., Wiesenfeld-Hallin, Z., Lozano, A., Dostrovsku, J., Hökfelt, T., 1998. Regulation of expression of galanin and galanin receptors in dorsal root ganglia and spinal cord after axotomy and inflammation. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 863: 402-413.

Zhang, Y., Hong, Y., Bounhar, Y., Blacker, M., Roucou, X., Tounekti, O., Vereker, E., Bowers, W.J., Federoff, H.J., Goodyer, C.G., LeBlanc, A., 2003. p75 Neurotrophin receptor protects primary cultures of human neurons against extracellular amyloid β peptide cytotoxicity. J. Neurosci. 23: 7385-7394.